
 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK  
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
 

v.        11-CR-57-A 
 
BERGAL MITCHELL, III , 
 

Defendant. 
________________        
 
 GOVERNMENT=S MEMORANDUM 

OF LAW IN OPPOSITION TO THE 

DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO DISMISS ON 

JURIDICTIONALGROUNDS 

 

 THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, by and through its attorneys, James P. 

Kennedy, Jr1. and Anthony M. Bruce, Assistant United States Attorneys, in accordance 

with the September 12, 2013 direction of the Court, hereby files its Memorandum of Law in 

Opposition to the Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss on Jurisdictional Grounds setting forth 

the points and authorities upon which the government relies in urging the Court to reject the 

defendant’s motions in their entirety.  

  

  IN OPPOSITION TO THE DEFENDANT’S MOTION, and in 

accordance with the Court’s direction, it is respectfully shown unto the Court as follows: 

 

                                                      
1 The United States Attorney, William J. Hochul, Jr., has been recused in this case. 
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1. The Defendant’s Motion and his Theories 

 It is undisputed that the defendant, during the relevant periods charged in the 

Indictment, was an enrolled member of the Seneca Nation of Indians (“SNI”).  He also held 

positions as a member of the tribal council and as a member and then as the vice chairman 

of the board of directors of the Seneca Gaming Corporation (“SGC”) (Introduction to the 

Indictment at ¶4, pp. 4-5).  The SNI, the SGC and the Seneca Niagara Falls Gaming 

Corporation (“SNFGC”) are the alleged victims of the crimes alleged in all four of the 

objects of Count 1, including the wire fraud object of the conspiracy alleged in subparagraph 

2(d) of Count 1 (Docket Item #1, p. 16) and Count 4, the substantive wire fraud count.  

(Docket Item #1, pp. 20 and 21).   

 

 At Part I of the defendant’s Omnibus Pretrial Motions (Docket Item #53), the 

defendant moved to dismiss that part of the conspiracy count, Count 1, which charges him 

with conspiring “to violate Section 1343 of Title 18 of the United States Code . . . (the wire 

fraud statute) by conspiring to use interstate wire transmissions to defraud the SNI, the 

SGC, and the SNFGC (Docket Item #1, p. 16) and the substantive wire fraud count, Count 4,  

which charges him with using interstate wire transmissions to in fact defraud these same 

three entities, and Counts 5 – 12 which charge him with money laundering in violation of 

Section 1957(a) of Title 18 because those counts rely, in part, on proof that the defendant 

violated Section 1343 as charged in Count 4.  The defendant’s motion at paragraphs 11 and 

12 (Docket Item #53, pp. 6-7) relies on his interpretation of Sections 1152 and 1153 of Title 18, 

which we quote: 
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11.     18 U.S.C. §1152 (the Indian or General Crimes Act), 
provides that the general penal laws of the United States, except 
as "otherwise expressly provided by law," apply to “Indian 
country." This principle, however, does not apply to "offenses by 
one Indian against the person or property of another Indian." Id. 
It further does not apply where one has already been punished 
"by the local law of the tribe" or the offense is reserved by treaty 
to be exclusive Indian jurisdiction. 

 
12.     18 U.S.C. §1153 (a) (the Major Crimes Act) indicates that 
any of the sixteen offenses specifically enumerated therein, 
which are committed within Indian country may be prosecuted 
as any other federal crime would be. §1153 (a) references as one 
of sixteen offenses, 18 U.S.C. §661, dealing with larceny. 
Various counts of the instant indictment alleged violations of 18 
U.S.C. §666, §1163, and §1168, which prohibit theft and 
embezzlement involving Indian jurisdiction. Counts 1(d) (a 
conspiracy count), 4 and 5 through 12 of the Indictment also 
charge Mr. Mitchell with violating §1343, that is, "[f]raud by 
wire, radio, or television." No specific reference is made in 
§1343 to Indian jurisdiction or any evidence of Congressional 
intent to reach Indian lands. Further, none of the enumerated 
offenses in §1153 (a), and by reference, in §661, address the 
§1343 prohibited conduct, which is "to devis[e] and intend[] to 
devise, a scheme and artifice to defraud." As a result, this Court 
is thus without subject matter jurisdiction to preside over a 
prosecution of the §1343 counts. (Docket Item #53, pp. 6-7). 
 

 Defendant’s interpretation of the statutes generally and their applicability to the facts 

of this case in particular are both mistaken.  

 

2. Federal Criminal Jurisdiction in Indian Country 

 Historically, “Indian tribes initially possessed exclusive jurisdiction over crimes 

committed by one tribal member against another in Indian country—even when the crime 
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was murder....” David H. Getches, Charles F. Wilkinson, Robert A. Williams, Jr., Federal 

Indian Law 475 (5th ed. 2005); see also, William C. Canby, Jr., American Indian Law 133 

(4th ed. 2004).  Today, by virtue of the interplay between the Indian Country Crimes Act or 

Federal Enclave Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1152, and the Major Crimes Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1153, 

federal court jurisdiction extends to certain major crimes committed by an Indian against 

another Indian, or by an Indian in Indian country, see United States v. Bruce, 394 F.3d 1215, 

1220 (9th Cir. 2005); United States v. Anderson, 391 F.3d 1083, 1085 n. 3 (9th Cir. 2004).   

 

 At the outset, the government observes that every Circuit Court, with the 

exception of the Second Circuit, that has considered the issue has determined unequivocally that 

federal court jurisdiction extends to intra-Indian violations of federal criminal laws of 

general, nationwide applicability. See, United States v. Mitchell, 502 F.3d 931, 946-947 (9th 

Cir. 2007); United States v. Yankton, 168 F.3d 1096, 1097–98 (8th Cir. 1999)(recognizing that 

statutes of general applicability, in which the situs of the crime is not an element, are 

applicable in Indian Country); United States v. Anderson, 391 F.3d at 1085–86; United States v. 

Smith, 387 F.3d 826, 829 (9th Cir. 2004) (stating that federal criminal jurisdiction extends to 

intra-Indian violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1513(b), retaliating against a witness, as it is a statute 

of nationwide applicability); United States v. Errol D., Jr., 292 F.3d 1159, 1164–65 (9th Cir. 

2002) (observing that the federal government could have charged Indian defendant who 

burglarized Bureau of Indian Affairs facilitates located in Indian country with 18 U.S.C. § 

641, theft of government property); United States v. Yannott, 42 F.3d 000, 1004 (6th Cir. 

1994) ([w]hile § 1153 confers to the United States exclusive jurisdiction over certain major 
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crimes, it applies only to the thirteen crimes specifically enumerated in that section. 

Furthermore, it does not strip the federal courts of jurisdiction of those crimes not 

enumerated therein; in fact, federal courts retain jurisdiction over violations of federal laws 

of general, non-territorial applicability.”); United States v. Begay, 42 F.3d 486, 499 (9th Cir. 

1994) (holding that a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371, conspiracy, “applies equally to everyone 

everywhere within the United States, including Indians in Indian country”).  

   

 As the Supreme Court has recognized, “it is now well settled by many decisions 

of this Court that a general statute in terms applying to all persons includes Indians and 

their property interests.” FPC v. Tuscarora Indian Nation, 362 U.S. 99, 116 (1960); see also, 

United States v. Wheeler, 435 U.S. 313, 331 n. 30 (1978) (“Federal jurisdiction ... extends ... to 

crimes over which there is federal jurisdiction regardless of whether an Indian is involved.”).   

Where, as here, the location of the crime is not an element of the offense charged, the crime 

is one of general applicability, and thus, it is “not encompassed within the Indian Country 

Crimes Act, and therefore are not subject to the Indian-against-Indian exception.”  United 

States v. Yankton, 168 F.3d at 1097–98 (“[s]ince the location of the crime is not an element of 

the offense of being an accessory after the fact under 18 U.S.C. § 3, the district court 

properly exercised jurisdiction over appellant's case under 18 U.S.C. § 1152.”). 

 

 This rationale that federal court jurisdiction extends to all violations of federal 

criminal laws of general, nationwide applicability was adopted by the District Court in 

United States v. Markiewicz, 1989 WL 139221 (N.D.N.Y. 1989), in concluding that “federal 
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criminal laws of general applicability apply even where a native American is both the 

defendant and the victim and the acts complained of occurred on a reservation”. Id. at *4.  

The Second Circuit, however, expressly determined that it “need not pass, however, on the 

validity of the district court's approach, because viewing the[] offenses [of which defendant 

was convicted] separately, we conclude that jurisdiction exists over the defendants for 

reasons different from those articulated by the district court.”  United States v. Markiewicz, 

978 F.2d at 800. 

 

 The crimes in Markiewicz all arose from “a bitter intertribal struggle over several 

issues, including management of a bingo hall located on The Territory.”2  Id. at 793. The 

defendants had been charged with: Count I, conspiracy to receive money from a tribal 

organization (18 U.S.C. §§ 371 and 1163); Count II, the theft of Oneida funds (18 U.S.C. § 

1163); Count III, conspiracy to incite a riot (18 U.S.C. §§ 371 and § 2101); Count IV, 

incitement to riot (18 U.S.C. § 2101); Count VII, conspiracy to damage a building in 

commerce (18 U.S.C. § 844(i)); Count VIII, witness retaliation (18 U.S.C. § 1512); Count 

IX, contempt (18 U.S.C. § 402); and Counts X through XV, perjury (18 U.S.C. § 1621(1)).   

 

 The Court parsed these crimes out, holding that the district court had jurisdiction as 

follows.  With respect to Counts I and II, the Court found jurisdiction because of the 

references to an “Indian Tribal Organization” in the statute (18 U.S.C. § 1163). Id. at 800-

801.  With respect to Count VII, the Court found jurisdiction because of the reference to 

                                                      
2 “The Territory” was “32 acres of the Oneida Nation located within the city limits of 
Oneida, New York.” United States v. Markiewicz, 978 F.2d at 793. 
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“arson” in the Major Crimes Act (18 U.S.C. § 1153).  Id. at 801.  With respect to Counts 

VIII and IX, the Court found jurisdiction because the conduct underlying these counts all 

occurred outside “Indian country,” saying that “jurisdictional issues arise only where [a] 

crime occurs on Indian territory.” Id. at 801.  With respect to Counts X through XV, the 

Court found jurisdiction because “the victims were not Indians, but the federal court system 

itself.” Id. at 802.   Finally, with respect to Counts III and IV, the incitement to riot charges, 

the Court, noting that one of the defendants made a phone call to Canada to solicit 

assistance in the riot, determined that jurisdiction was proper because the “offenses did not 

occur solely ‘within the Indian country.’”  Id. at 802.  This same logic compels the 

conclusion that jurisdiction is proper in this case.   

 
 Significantly, the jurisdictional claim considered by the Court in Markiewicz arose 

following trial.  As the discussion above makes clear, the Court’s resolution of those claims 

was highly fact intensive.  Indeed, had the evidence of the telephone call to Canada not 

come out, the § 2101 count might have been subject to dismissal at the end of the 

government’s proof pursuant to Fed.R.Evid. 29(a) or the convictions on the count might 

have been reversed with a direction to the district court to dismiss.  However, at this stage of 

this case, the Court really has no facts (or lack of facts) to which it can look in order to apply 

Markiewicz’s holding and dismiss (or decline to dismiss) the case.  Thus, defendant’s 

jurisdictional claim is, at best, premature.  See United States v. Alfonso, 143 F.3d 772, 778 (2d 

Cir. 1998) (Court cannot dismiss a facially sufficient indictment on a challenge to 

jurisdiction without first having a relatively detailed proffer by the government of the facts it 
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would present in support of proving jurisdiction).  Nevertheless, in the interest of resolving 

the defendant’s motion, we will proffer the facts that appear below. 

 
 Some of the off-the-reservation acts in this case are apparent or may readily be 

inferred from the indictment: 

1. (first overt act) As set forth in paragraph 9 of the Introductory Allegations, Toohey (a 

non-Indian), on or about July 8, 2004, sent a facsimile transmission to Dowd (a non-

Indian) in Lewiston, New York (not in Indian territory); 

2. (third overt act) As set forth in paragraph 15 of the Introductory Allegations, 

defendant BERGAL MITCHELL, on or about January 25, 2005, opened a bank 

account (not in Indian territory);3 

3. (sixth overt act) As set forth in paragraph 17 of the Introductory Allegations, Toohey 

(a non-Indian), on or before February 19, 2005, prepared and provided to defendant 

BERGAL MITCHELL a draft resolution (which resolution was not prepared in 

Indian territory); 

4. (eighth overt act) As set forth in paragraphs 25 through 27 of the Introductory 

Allegations, on or about May 9, 2005, Dowd (a non-Indian), at the request of 

defendant BERGAL MITCHELL, sent a letter to SNI President Barry Snyder 

(which letter was drafted and sent from a location that was not in Indian Territory); 

5. (ninth overt act) As set forth in paragraph 29 of the Introductory Allegations, on or 

about June 16, 2005, certain bank accounts were opened (not in Indian territory); 

                                                      
3 All of the bank accounts opened and/or used by Mitchell and/or his wife were opened and 
maintained at banks that were off the Cattaraugus reservation and indeed, upon information 
and belief, there are no banks on the Cattaraugus reservation. 
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6. (eleventh overt act) As set forth in paragraph 34 of the Introductory Allegations, on 

or about on or about February 17, 2006, approximately $338,000 in proceeds of the 

sale of the land was paid to accounts controlled by defendant BERGAL MITCHELL 

and his wife (not in Indian territory); and 

7. As set forth in paragraph 35 of the Introductory Allegations, on or about February 

17, 2006, and August 7, 2006, defendant BERGAL MITCHELL and his wife spent 

(not in Indian territory) portions of the $338,000 that they received from the proceeds 

of the sale of the golf course land by OCD to SNI.  

 

 In addition, the proof will show that an important meeting in the conspiracy (and by 

extension the wire fraud and wire fraud conspiracy violations) between Toohey and 

defendant took place at Goodes Meat Market, a restaurant in Gowanda, New York (not in 

Indian territory).  This conduct is pled in Paragraph 11 of the Introductory Allegations to 

the Indictment (Docket Item #1, p. 5):  

 
During July or August of 2004, Toohey met with defendant 
BERGAL MITCHELL. During that meeting, defendant 
BERGAL MITCHELL and Toohey discussed who would 
receive what portion of the proceeds of the sale. Defendant 
BERGAL MITCHELL, who was aware that Toohey would be 
adding his fee to the $1.2 million purchase price for the land, 
advised Toohey that he (defendant BERGAL MITCHELL) 
expected to get paid out of Toohey’s cut. 
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 All of the activity catalogued above was part of and furthered the scheme to defraud 

the SNI, SGF and SNFGC, and all of it occurred outside of Indian territory.  If a single 

completed off-reservation phone call was sufficient to confer jurisdiction in Markiewicz, 978 

F.2d at 802, then surely the multitude of acts, set forth above, each of which unquestionably 

occurred outside of Indian territory, provide an ample basis for the court to conclude that 

jurisdiction is proper in Counts 1 and 4, and thus, there is no basis to dismiss the conspiracy 

object of Count 1 and Count 5. 

 

 BASED ON ALL OF THE FOREGOING, it is prayed that the Court adopt the 

Magistrate Judge’s Report and Recommendation insofar as it relates to jurisdiction and 

deny the defendant’s motion to dismiss.  

DATED:   Buffalo, New York, September 20, 2013. 
 

 
JAMES P. KENNEDY, JR. 

       Attorney for the United States 
       Acting Under Authority Conferred  
       by 28 U.S.C. § 515 
 
 
       s/Anthony M. Bruce     
      BY: ANTHONY M. BRUCE         

Assistant U.S. Attorney 
U.S. Attorney’s Office 
Western District of New York 
138 Delaware Avenue 
Buffalo, New York 14202 
716-843-5700, ext. 15886 
Anthony.M.Bruce@usdoj.gov 
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